Before the

Administrative Hearing Commission

State of Missouri

PAUL R. HENLEY,
)



)



Petitioner,
)




)


vs.

)

No. 10-1345 AC



)

STATE BOARD OF ACCOUNTANCY,
)



)
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DECISION


We deny the application of Paul R. Henley for licensure as a certified public accountant.

Procedure


On July 13, 2010, Henley filed a complaint appealing the decision of the State Board of Accountancy (“the Board”) denying his application for a permit to practice as a certified public accountant.  On September 10, 2010, we held a hearing on the complaint.  Henley represented himself.  Samantha A. Green of Hearne & Green represented the Board.  The matter became ready for our decision on December 7, 2010, the date the last brief was due.

Findings of Fact

1. On November 4, 2004, Henley pled guilty to one count of possession of child pornography in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 2252A(a)(5)(B).  In his plea agreement, Henley admitted to purchasing access to various child pornography Web sites and that images of child pornography were found on a computer in his possession.
2. Henley was sentenced by the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Missouri to 27 months’ imprisonment for his offense, as well as to supervised release for life after confinement for life.  
3. Henley was released from confinement on March 9, 2007.
4. On September 29, 2009, the U.S. Probation Officer supervising Henley’s release petitioned the District Court for modification of the conditions or term of Henley’s supervised release.  The Probation Officer cited the following grounds for modification:

a. In May 2007, Henley violated the terms of his supervision by masturbating to fantasies of young girls aged 12 and up;

b. In May 2007, Henley violated the terms of his supervision by walking by a school close to his home;


c. In 2009, Henley associated with minors by working with them without the knowledge of the probation office;


d. In 2009, Henley accessed the internet, in violation of the terms of his supervised release; and


e. In September 2009, Henley failed a portion of a polygraph test where he was asked questions about grooming.
5. Henley did not object to the petition for modification and waived his right to a hearing on the matter.

6. The District Court modified the terms of Henley’s supervision, requiring Henley to participate in a home confinement program, which required him to stay in his home for a period of up to one year, except for employment and other activities approved in advance by the United States Probation Office, and to be subject to wearing an electronic monitoring device.

7. Henley passed the CPA exam and otherwise met the minimum requirements for licensure, other than the grounds raised in the Board’s answer to the complaint.
Conclusions of Law 


We have jurisdiction to hear Henley’s complaint.
  The applicant has the burden to show that he or she is entitled to licensure.
  We exercise the same authority that has been granted to the Board.
  Therefore, we simply decide the application de novo.
  “May” means an option, not a mandate.
  The appeal vests in this Commission the same degree of discretion as the Board, and we need not exercise it in the same way.
 

When an applicant for licensure files a complaint, the agency’s answer provides notice of the grounds for denial of the application.


The Board argues that there is cause for denial under § 326.310.1 and .2 for the following causes:
(2) The person has been finally adjudicated and found guilty, or entered a plea of guilty or nolo contendere, in a criminal prosecution under the laws of any state or of the United States, for any offense reasonably related to the qualifications, functions or duties of any profession licensed or regulated pursuant to this chapter, for any offense an essential element of which is fraud, dishonesty or an act of violence, or for any offense involving moral turpitude, whether or not sentence is imposed;

*   *   *
(19)
Failure, on the part of a holder of a certificate, license or permit pursuant to section 326.280 or 326.289, to maintain compliance with the requirements for issuance or renewal of such certificate, license, permit or provisional license or to report changes to the board pursuant to sections 326.280 to 326.289[.]

I.  Criminal Offense Involving Moral Turpitude – Subdivision (2)


Henley pled guilty to the felony offense of possession of child pornography under 18 U.S.C. § 2252(a)(5)(B), which provided at all relevant times:

(a) Any person who--

*   *   *

(5)(B) knowingly possesses any book, magazine, periodical, film, videotape, computer disk, or any other material that contains an image of child pornography that has been mailed, or shipped or transported in interstate or foreign commerce by any means, including by computer, or that was produced using materials that have been mailed, or shipped or transported in interstate or foreign commerce by any means, including by computer; or
*   *   *
shall be punished as provided in subsection (b) [of the statute].

The Board argues that possession of child pornography is a crime involving moral turpitude.  Moral turpitude is:

an act of baseness, vileness, or depravity in the private and social duties which a man owes to his fellowman or to society in general, contrary to the accepted and customary rule of right and duty between man and man; everything “done contrary to justice, honesty, modesty, and good morals.”[
]

In Brehe v. Missouri Dep’t of Elementary and Secondary Education,
 a case that involved discipline of a teacher’s certificate under § 168.071 for committing a crime involving moral turpitude, the court referred to three classifications of crimes:

(1) crimes that necessarily involve moral turpitude (Category 1 crimes);
(2) crimes “so obviously petty that conviction carries no suggestion of moral turpitude,” such as illegal parking (Category 2 crimes); and

(3) crimes that “may be saturated with moral turpitude,” yet do not involve it necessarily, such as willful failure to pay income tax or refusal to answer questions before a congressional committee (Category 3 crimes).

Other courts have routinely found that possession of child pornography is a crime of moral turpitude.
  We agree, and find that possession of child pornography is a Category 1 crime and thus involves moral turpitude.  
Henley argues that, while possession of child pornography is a crime of moral turpitude, his crime was “not related to the duties of a typical CPA….”
  This argument appears to track the language of § 326.310.2(2), which refers to “any offense reasonably related to the qualifications, functions or duties of any profession licensed or regulated pursuant to this chapter.”  We note, however, that paragraph (2) sets out three discrete types of crimes for which the Board may refuse to issue a license:  an offense reasonably related to the functions or duties of the accounting profession, an offense for which an essential element is fraud, dishonesty or an act of violence, or any offense involving moral turpitude.  There is no need for a finding that the offense was related to accounting practice.

There is cause for denial under § 326.310.2(2).
VI.  Good Moral Character – Subdivision (19)


Section 326.280 sets forth the qualifications for licensure.  Section 326.280.1(3) requires that all licensees be of good moral character.  Good moral character is honesty, fairness, and 
respect for the law and the rights of others.
  The Board points to Henley’s guilty plea, the requirement that he register as a sex offender, and his violation of the conditions of his supervised release as evidence of his lack of good moral character.  For his part, Henley produced letters from former co-workers and a pastor, although we agree with the Board that none of the letters addresses Henley’s moral character, past or present. 

We agree with the Board that Henley’s child pornography conviction and his post-release conduct demonstrate that he lacks good moral character, a qualification for licensure.  There is cause for denial under § 326.310.2(19).

Summary


There is cause to deny Henley a license to practice as a certified public accountant under § 326.310.1 and .2(2) and (19).  

SO ORDERED on May 16, 2011.


__________________________________
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Commissioner
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